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KELLER BENVENUTTI KIM LLP 
TOBIAS S. KELLER (Cal. Bar No. 151445) 
(tkeller@kbkllp.com)  
DAVID A. TAYLOR (Cal. Bar No. 247433) 
(dtaylor@kbkllp.com) 
THOMAS B. RUPP (Cal. Bar No. 278041) 
(trupp@kbkllp.com) 
101 Montgomery Street, Ste. 1950 
San Francisco, California 94104 
Telephone: (415) 496-6723 
Facsimile: (650) 636-9251 
 
Attorneys for the Debtors and  
Debtors in Possession 
 
 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

SANTA ROSA DIVISION 
 
 

In re:  

LEFEVER MATTSON, a California 
corporation, et al.,1  

Debtors. 

 

Lead Case No. 24-10545 (CN) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
Chapter 11  
 
DECLARATION OF GABRIELLE L. 
ALBERT IN SUPPORT OF DEBTORS’ 
PRELIMINARY OPPOSITION TO 
MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM THE 
AUTOMATIC STAY 
 
[Dkt. No. 1938] 
 
Date: August 22, 2025 
Time: 11:00 a.m. 
Place: United States Bankruptcy Court 
 1300 Clay Street, Courtroom 215 
 Oakland, CA 94612 

In re 
 
KS MATTSON PARTNERS, LP, 

 
Debtor. 

 
1  The last four digits of LeFever Mattson’s tax identification number are 7537.  The last four 
digits of the tax identification number for KS Mattson Partners, LP (“KSMP”) are 5060.  KSMP’s 
address for service is c/o Stapleton Group, 514 Via de la Valle, Solana Beach, CA 92075.  The 
address for service on LeFever Mattson and all other Debtors is 6359 Auburn Blvd., Suite B, Citrus 
Heights, CA 9562. Due to the large number of debtor entities in these Chapter 11 Cases, a complete 
list of the Debtors and the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers is not provided 
herein.  A complete list of such information may be obtained on the website of the Debtors’ claims 
and noticing agent at https://veritaglobal.net/LM. 
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I, Gabrielle Albert, hereby declare pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746: 

1. I am an attorney with Keller Benvenutti Kim LLP, attorneys for the Debtors in the

above-captioned Chapter 11 Cases.  I am admitted to practice law in the State of California and 

before this Court. 

2. I submit this declaration in support of the Debtors’ Preliminary Opposition to

Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay (the “Opposition”).2 

3. On June 15, 2025, I received an e-mail from Mark Baker threatening to file a

discrimination lawsuit against Golden Hills and other parties unless he received confirmation that 

the blue LED lights on the video surveillance system in the parking lot of The Shops were turned 

off prior to June 18, 2025.  A true and correct copy of Mr. Baker’s email is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A. 

4. On June 16, 2025, I responded to Mr. Baker’s email by attaching a letter addressed

to his attention, which provided notice of the Chapter 11 Cases and demanded that he cease any 

actions against the Debtors.  A true and correct copy of my email is included in Exhibit A, and a 

true and correct copy of the letter is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

5. On July 16, 2025, after receiving notice of the State Court Litigation, I sent an email

to Mr. Baker attaching a letter addressed to his attention, which provided notice of his violation of 

the automatic stay and demanded that he withdraw his complaint against Golden Hills.  True and 

correct copies of my email and the letter are attached hereto as Exhibits C and D. 

6. On July 16, 2025, I received an email from Mr. Baker acknowledging that relief

from the automatic stay was required to continue to the State Court Litigation.  A true and correct 

copy of Mr. Baker’s email is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

7. On July 16, 2025, after he acknowledged that relief from the automatic stay was

required, I received a series of emails from Mr. Baker making demands for payment from the 

Debtors and threatening to engage in prolonged litigation.  True and correct copies of Mr. Baker’s 

emails are attached hereto as Exhibits F. 

2 Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in 
the Opposition. 
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8. On July 17, 2025, I caused a notice of stay of proceedings to be filed in the State 

Court Litigation.  A true and correct copy of such notice is attached hereto as Exhibit G. 

9. On information and belief, the blue LED light at The Shops was turned off as of 

August 5, 2025, and the entire system has been removed from the premises. 

10. On August 13, 2025, I received an email from Mr. Baker demanding payment to 

resolve the State Court Litigation on terms similar to those he discussed with Jack in the Box, 

which include a $4,000 payment and evidence of efforts made to turn off the blue LED lights.  A 

true and correct copy of Mr. Baker’s email is attached hereto as Exhibit H. 

11. On August 18, 2025, Mr. Baker sent an email to my colleague, Tyler Davis, 

demanding payment to resolve the State Court Litigation and threatening increased damages in the 

State Court Litigation.  A true and correct copy of Mr. Baker’s email is attached hereto as Exhibit 

I. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on 

August 20, 2025. 

 

By: /s/ Gabrielle L. Albert   
Gabrielle L. Albert  
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Tyler Davis

From: Gabrielle Albert <galbert@kbkllp.com>
Sent: Monday, June 16, 2025 9:04 AM
To: Mark Baker; Mark Bennett
Cc: scuff@dsiconsulting.com; quentin.caruso@marcusmillichap.com; Tim Lindell; Bryce 

Higbee; Sarah Shemwell; amir.agam@fticonsulting.com; Gotthardt, Greg; Daar, Sofi; 
David Taylor; Thomas Rupp

Subject: Re: Blue LED Lights - Discrimination Incident - June 15 2025 - Intent to Sue
Attachments: L027B (Baker Letter re Notice of Bankruptcy Stay).pdf; 128 Notice of Bankruptcy (filed 

09.30.2024).pdf

Mr. Baker,  
 
Please see the attached letter.  
 
Best regards,  
Brelle 
 
 
Gabrielle L. Albert 
Keller Benvenutti Kim LLP 
101 Montgomery Street, Suite 1950 
San Francisco, CA 94104 
Direct: 415.364.6778 
Email: galbert@kbkllp.com 
  

 
  
IMPORTANT NOTICE: WE HAVE MOVED, AGAIN!  PLEASE NOTE OUR NEW PHYSICAL ADDRESS. 
  
Online banking fraud is on the rise. Never trust wiring instructions sent via email.  Please confirm all wiring instructions by 
phone directly with our office before transferring funds.  
  
This message is being sent from a law firm and may contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, 
please advise the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete this message and any attachments without retaining a copy. 
  
 
 

From: Mark Baker <mbaker@softlights.org> 
Date: Sunday, June 15, 2025 at 2:13 PM 
To: Mark Bennett <mbennett@lefma.com> 
Cc: Gabrielle “Brelle” Albert <galbert@kbkllp.com>, "scuff@dsiconsulting.com" <scuff@dsiconsulting.com>, 
"quentin.caruso@marcusmillichap.com" <quentin.caruso@marcusmillichap.com>, Tim Lindell 
<Tim.Lindell@jackinthebox.com>, Bryce Higbee <bryce.higbee@lvt.com>, Sarah Shemwell 
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<Sarah.Shemwell@jackinthebox.com>, "amir.agam@fticonsulting.com" <amir.agam@fticonsulting.com> 
Subject: Blue LED Lights - Discrimination Incident - June 15 2025 - Intent to Sue 
 
To All Parties, 
 
On June 15, 2025, I entered the parking lot of The Shops at Golden Hills in Vacaville, California, fully 
expecting that the blue LED lights on the LVT video surveillance system had been turned off to protect my 
safety and that the discriminatory barrier created by the blue LED lights had been eliminated.  Instead, I 
was immediately struck by the strobing blue LED light on the top of the tower of the LVT system next to 
the Jack in the Box.  I felt immediate pain and trauma and screamed out profanity in my car.  I promptly 
turned around and left the shopping center parking lot.  This is discrimination. 
 
On June 12, 2025, in the case A.J.T. v. Osseo Area Schools, Independent School District No. 279, the US 
Supreme Court ruled that "deliberate indifference" is the universal threshold for discrimination 
claims.  Deliberate indifference means, "Did the public or private entity try hard enough to help eliminate 
the discriminatory barrier?".  In this case with the blue LED lights, the obvious answer is that none of the 
parties listed in this email have tried hard enough, instead choosing to aid in the discrimination by not 
providing the contact information for the Jack In The Box franchise owner and not contacting LVT and 
directing them to turn off the blue LED lights. 
 
I am not going to subject myself to the trauma of those blue LED lights in the shopping center again.  It is 
my intent to file a discrimination lawsuit against every party in this email for aiding in discrimination, 
under Section 52 of the California Unruh Civil Rights Act, and under the ADA's prohibition of 
discrimination.  Once I file the lawsuit, it will become part of the bankruptcy proceedings of the shopping 
center owner and it will be on the Court's docket.  Then, every time a hearing is held, the judge will ask, 
"Did anybody get those blue lights turned off?" and the lawyers will all point at each other and try to cast 
the blame onto somebody other than their client.  This issue will not go away and the bankruptcy will not 
be completed until the blue LED lights are turned off. 
 
I have already established nearly the entire procedure for legally compelling entities to turn off the blue 
LED lights via my lawsuit Baker v. Petrovich Development Company, et al.  In that case, the Court 
dismissed the defendant's Demurrers and allowed the case to proceed.  We went through RFPs, RFAs, 
and Interrogatories.  It was when we arrived at the deposition that the defendants finally recognized the 
futility of continuing the case, and settled with me out of court.  The case cost the companies tens of 
thousands of dollars and produced nothing of benefit for the companies.  The blue LED lights were 
turned off, and I can safely access the Woodland Gateway shopping center again. 
 
I currently cannot safely access The Shops at Golden Hills due to the blue LED lights.  Unless I receive an 
affirmative notice via email by June 18, 2025 that the blue LED lights have been turned off on the LVT 
system and that I can safely access The Shops at Golden Hills, I will file a discrimination lawsuit against 
all parties. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Mark Baker 
President 
Soft Lights Foundation 
www.softlights.org 
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mbaker@softlights.org 
X: @softlights_org 
Bluesky: @softlights-org.bsky.social 
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Gabrielle L. Albert 
Direct: 415.364.6778  101 Montgomery Street, Suite 1950 
Email: galbert@kbkllp.com San Francisco, CA 94104 
 

 
 

June 16, 2025 

 
VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
Mark Baker 
(mbaker@softlights.org) 
Soft Lights Foundation 
9450 SW Gemini Drive, PMB 44671  
Beaverton, OR 97008 
 

Re: In re: LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, et. al., Case No. 24-10545 
(Jointly Administered) (Bankr. N. D. Cal.) – Notice of Chapter 11 
Bankruptcy and Demand to Cease Any Actions Against the Debtors 

Dear Mr. Baker: 

We are counsel to LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, and its affiliates that are debtors 
and debtors in possession, including RT Golden Hills, LP, (collectively, the “Debtors”) in the above-
referenced chapter 11 cases (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) pending before the Honorable Charles Novack, 
United States Bankruptcy Judge, in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of 
California (the “Bankruptcy Court”). 

I am writing to inform you that on September 12, 2024, LeFever Mattson and its affiliates, 
including RT Golden Hills, LP, commenced voluntary cases under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United 
States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the Bankruptcy Court.  A copy of the Notice of Chapter 11 
Bankruptcy Case is enclosed with this letter.  A complete list of Debtors is attached as Exhibit 1 to 
the Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case. 

Please be advised that, pursuant to section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code (the “Automatic 
Stay”), the filing of a bankruptcy petition “operates as a stay, applicable to all entities,” of, among 
other things, “the commencement or continuation, including the issuance or employment of process, 
of a judicial, administrative, or other action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could have 
been commenced before the commencement of the case under [the Bankruptcy Code], or to recover 
a claim against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the [bankruptcy] case.”  11 U.S.C. 
§ 362(a)(1).   

The protection of the Bankruptcy Code prohibits commencing any actions against the 
Debtors, including actions alleging noncompliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(the “ADA”), which can be construed as a willful violation of the Automatic Stay.  Moreover, filing a 
discrimination lawsuit does not fall into one of the narrow exception to the Automatic Stay.  “Courts 
have consistently held that the automatic stay applies to [qui tam actions], at least when the government 
has not intervened, because they do not fall within the governmental unit exception.”  Porter v. Nabors 
Drilling USA, Ltd. P’ship, 854 F.3d 1057, 1062 (9th Cir. 2017).  As such, any action taken against the 
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Gabrielle L. Albert, Esq. 
June 16, 2025 
Page 2 

Debtors without first obtaining relief from the Automatic Stay from the Bankruptcy Court is void ab 
initio and may result in a finding of contempt for violation of the Automatic Stay. 

The Debtors reserve all rights to seek appropriate relief in the Bankruptcy Court, including 
but not limited to seeking an injunction or monetary sanctions for violations. 

Should you have any questions regarding the Chapter 11 Cases, please contact the undersigned 
counsel for the Debtors.   

 Yours truly, 

  

 Gabrielle L. Albert 

Encl.:  

Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case 
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Gabrielle L. Albert 
Direct: 415.364.6778  101 Montgomery Street, Suite 1950 
Email: galbert@kbkllp.com San Francisco, CA 94104 
 

 
 

July 16, 2025 
 
VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
Mark Baker 
(mbaker@softlights.org) 
1520 E. Covell Suite 5 -467 
Davis, CA 95616 
 

Re: In re: LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, et. al., Case No. 24-10545 
(Jointly Administered) (Bankr. N. D. Cal.) – Notice of Violation of the 
Automatic Stay and Demand to Withdraw Complaint Against Debtor RT 
Golden Hills, LP 

Dear Mr. Baker: 

As we informed you in our letter dated as of June 16, 2025 (the “June Letter”), LeFever 
Mattson and its affiliates, including RT Golden Hills, LP (collectively, the “Debtors”), commenced 
voluntary cases under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the 
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of California (the “Bankruptcy Court”) on 
September 12, 2024. 

On July 11, 2025, we have received a summons with respect to a complaint you filed on July 
10, 2025, against our client, RT Golden Hills, LP, in the Superior Court of California, County of 
Solano, case number CU25-06372 (the “Complaint”).  A copy of the summons is enclosed with this 
letter.   

The filing of the Complaint, without first obtaining relief from the Bankruptcy Court, 
constitutes a clear violation of the automatic stay and contempt of court, as you acknowledge having 
received the June Letter with notice of the above-referenced bankruptcy cases in the Complaint.  A 
bankruptcy court can make a finding of contempt where a moving party has shown by clear and 
convincing evidence that the contemnor violated a specific and definite order of the court.  Knupfer v. 
Lindblade  (In re Dyer), 322 F.3d 1178, 1190-91 (9th Cir. 2003).  The automatic stay qualifies as a specific 
and definite court order.  Id. at 1191.  Upon making a finding of contempt for a violation of the 
automatic stay, the bankruptcy court may impose civil contempt sanctions if it finds that the 
contemnor knew of the automatic stay and that his actions which violated the stay were intentional.  
See id.  Civil contempt sanctions may include reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in the process of 
voiding a violation of the Automatic Stay.  Id. at 1195. 

Accordingly, we hereby demand that you immediately dismiss the Complaint with respect to 
RT Golden Hills, LP.  Should you fail to promptly take action necessary to rectify the violation of the 
automatic stay, the Debtors will seek appropriate relief in the Bankruptcy Court, including, but not 
limited to, seeking a finding of contempt and award of monetary sanctions for such violation. 

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 2
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Gabrielle L. Albert, Esq. 
July 16, 2025 
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Should you have any questions regarding the Chapter 11 Cases, please contact the undersigned 
counsel for the Debtors.   

 Yours truly, 

  

 Gabrielle L. Albert 

Encl.:  

Summons

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 3
of 46



Form Adopted for Mandatory Use 
Judicial Council of California 
SUM-100  [Rev. July 1, 2009]

SUMMONS Code of Civil Procedure §§ 412.20, 465

SUM-100
SUMMONS

(CITACION JUDICIAL)

FOR COURT USE ONLY 
(SOLO PARA USO DE LA CORTE)

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: 
(AVISO AL DEMANDADO): 

YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF: 
(LO ESTÁ DEMANDANDO EL DEMANDANTE):

NOTICE! You have been sued. The court may decide against you without your being heard unless you respond within 30 days. Read the information 
below.
    You have 30 CALENDAR DAYS after this summons and legal papers are served on you to file a written response at this court and have a copy 
served on the plaintiff. A letter or phone call will not protect you. Your written response must be in proper legal form if you want the court to hear your 
case. There may be a court form that you can use for your response. You can find these court forms and more information at the California Courts 
Online Self-Help Center (www.courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), your county law library, or the courthouse nearest you. If you cannot pay the filing fee, ask the 
court clerk for a fee waiver form. If you do not file your response on time, you may lose the case by default, and your wages, money, and property may 
be taken without further warning from the court. 
    There are other legal requirements. You may want to call an attorney right away. If you do not know an attorney, you may want to call an attorney 
referral service. If you cannot afford an attorney, you may be eligible for free legal services from a nonprofit legal services program. You can locate 
these nonprofit groups at the California Legal Services Web site (www.lawhelpcalifornia.org), the California Courts Online Self-Help Center 
(www.courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), or by contacting your local court or county bar association. NOTE: The court has a statutory lien for waived fees and 
costs on any settlement or arbitration award of $10,000 or more in a civil case. The court's lien must be paid before the court will dismiss the case. 
¡AVISO! Lo han demandado. Si no responde dentro de 30 días, la corte puede decidir en su contra sin escuchar su versión. Lea la información a 
continuación.
    Tiene 30 DÍAS DE CALENDARIO después de que le entreguen esta citación y papeles legales para presentar una respuesta por escrito en esta
corte y hacer que se entregue una copia al demandante. Una carta o una llamada telefónica no lo protegen. Su respuesta por escrito tiene que estar
en formato legal correcto si desea que procesen su caso en la corte. Es posible que haya un formulario que usted pueda usar para su respuesta. 
Puede encontrar estos formularios de la corte y más información en el Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes de California (www.sucorte.ca.gov), en la
biblioteca de leyes de su condado o en la corte que le quede más cerca. Si no puede pagar la cuota de presentación, pida al secretario de la corte que
le dé un formulario de exención de pago de cuotas. Si no presenta su respuesta a tiempo, puede perder el caso por incumplimiento y la corte le podrá
quitar su sueldo, dinero y bienes sin más advertencia. 
    Hay otros requisitos legales. Es recomendable que llame a un abogado inmediatamente. Si no conoce a un abogado, puede llamar a un servicio de
remisión a abogados. Si no puede pagar a un abogado, es posible que cumpla con los requisitos para obtener servicios legales gratuitos de un
programa de servicios legales sin fines de lucro. Puede encontrar estos grupos sin fines de lucro en el sitio web de California Legal Services, 
(www.lawhelpcalifornia.org), en el Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes de California, (www.sucorte.ca.gov) o poniéndose en contacto con la corte o el
colegio de abogados locales. AVISO: Por ley, la corte tiene derecho a reclamar las cuotas y los costos exentos por imponer un gravamen sobre
cualquier recuperación de $10,000 ó más de valor recibida mediante un acuerdo o una concesión de arbitraje en un caso de derecho civil. Tiene que 
pagar el gravamen de la corte antes de que la corte pueda desechar el caso.

The name and address of the court is:
(El nombre y dirección de la corte es):

CASE NUMBER:
(Número del Caso):

The name, address, and telephone number of plaintiff's attorney, or plaintiff without an attorney, is:
(El nombre, la dirección y el número de teléfono del abogado del demandante, o del demandante que no tiene abogado, es):

DATE:
(Fecha)

Clerk, by 
(Secretario)

, Deputy 
(Adjunto)

(For proof of service of this summons, use Proof of Service of Summons (form POS-010).)
(Para prueba de entrega de esta citatión use el formulario Proof of Service of Summons, (POS-010)).

[SEAL]

1. as an individual defendant.
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3. on behalf of (specify):

under: CCP 416.10 (corporation)
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CCP 416.40 (association or partnership)

CCP 416.60 (minor)
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CCP 416.90 (authorized person)
other (specify):

4. by personal delivery on (date):

NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are served
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Mark Baker
1520 E. Covell Suite 5 - 467
Davis, CA 95616
mbaker@softlights.org
234-206-1977
Pro Se

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SOLANO COUNTY

MARK BAKER,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GOGRIS CORPORATION., JACK IN THE 

BOX, INC, RT GOLDEN HILLS, LP, 

LIVEVIEW TECHNOLOGIES, INC., AND 

DOES 1-20

Defendants.

Case No.: ______________

COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO:

1. THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES
ACT 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 ET SEQ.;
2. THE UNRUH CIVIL RIGHTS ACT, 
CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §§ 51-52

CIVIL UNLIMITED.

E
le

ct
ro

ni
ca

lly
 S

ub
m

itt
ed

 o
n 

07
/1

0/
20

25
 1

0:
33

 P
M

$435

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 7
of 46



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 2

Table of Contents

I. INTRODUCTION .........................................................................................................................5

II. PARTIES......................................................................................................................................5

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE..................................................................................................6

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS .........................................................................................................6

A.   Light Emitting Diodes................................................................................................................6

B.   Individuals with Disabilities.......................................................................................................7

C.   The Shops at Golden Hills..........................................................................................................8

D.   Intentional Discrimination..........................................................................................................8

E.   Alteration..................................................................................................................................11

F.   Administrative Actions .............................................................................................................12

V. LEGAL STANDARD ................................................................................................................14

A.   Americans with Disabilities Act ..............................................................................................14

B.   California Unruh Civil Rights Act............................................................................................17

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION   Violations of Title III of the ADA   (Against Defendant 

Gogris).........................................................................................................................................................................19

VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION   Violations of Title III of the ADA   (Against Defendant 

RT)...............................................................................................................................................................................20

VIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION Violations of the Unruh Civil Rights Act (Against All 

Defendants)..................................................................................................................................................................21

IX. RELIEF REQUESTED.............................................................................................................22

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 8
of 46



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 3

Cases

Arizona ex re. Goddard v. Harkins Amusement Enters, Inc., 603 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 2012) ...............................16

Christiansburg Garment Company vs. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission................................................23

Coolbaugh v. State of Louisiana (1998) ......................................................................................................................15

Hason v. Medical Bd. Of California (2001) ................................................................................................................14

Molski v. M.J. Cable, Inc. (9th Cir. 2007) 481 F.3d 724, 730. ....................................................................................16

Munson v. Del Taco, Inc. (2009) .................................................................................................................................19

Robles v. Dominos Pizza, LLC ....................................................................................................................................15

Statutes

21 U.S.C. Part C ............................................................................................................................................................7

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 .........................................................................................................................................................6

28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202..........................................................................................................................................6

42 U.S. Code § 12101(a)(2).........................................................................................................................................14

42 U.S. Code § 12101(b)(2) ........................................................................................................................................14

42 U.S. Code § 12182..................................................................................................................................................15

42 U.S. Code § 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii) ........................................................................................................................20, 21

42 U.S. Code §§ 12181-12189 ....................................................................................................................................22

42 U.S.C. § 12133 .........................................................................................................................................................6

42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B) ...............................................................................................................................................5

42 U.S.C. § 12182(a) .............................................................................................................................................19, 21

42 USC § 12181(7)(B) ..........................................................................................................................................15, 19

42 USC § 12181(7)(E)...........................................................................................................................................15, 20

Under 42 U.S. Code § 12182(b)(1)(A)(ii) ...................................................................................................................20

Regulations

28 C.F.R. § 36.505.......................................................................................................................................................23

28 C.F.R. Part 36 .........................................................................................................................................................22

28 CFR § 36.101(a) .....................................................................................................................................................14

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 9
of 46



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 4

28 CFR § 36.201(b) .....................................................................................................................................................15

28 CFR § 36.402(a)(1)...........................................................................................................................................12, 20

Codes

California Civil Code § 51.............................................................................................................................................6

California Civil Code § 51(f).................................................................................................................................18, 21

California Civil Code § 52...........................................................................................................................................19

California Civil Code § 52(a) ..........................................................................................................................18, 21, 22

California Civil Code §§ 51-52 ...................................................................................................................................22

California Civil Code Section 51(b) ............................................................................................................................18

California Civil Code Section 52.................................................................................................................................23

Code of Civil Procedure 1021.5 ..................................................................................................................................23

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 10
of 46



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 5

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This Complaint seeks injunctive relief and statutory damages against Gogris 

, Jack in the Box, Inc. RT Golden Hills, LP 

and Liveview Technologies, Inc. LVT for repeated and ongoing violations of 

the and California Unruh Civil Rights Act

related to the operation of a video surveillance system which is designed to 

intentionally discriminate against individuals through the use of high-intensity blue LED 

lights, and which create an illegal discriminatory barrier for individuals with disabilities, 

including Plaintiff.

II. PARTIES

2. Plaintiff MARK BAKER is an individual with a qualified disability, is the Founder 

and President of the Soft Lights Foundation, a registered 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation 

dedicated to the protection of individuals and the environment from the harms of LED 

lights, and is a resident of Yolo County, California.  Petitioner files this complaint In Pro 

Per.

3. Defendant GOGRIS CORPORATION is a California Corporation. Gogris is a 

franchisee operator of a restaurant called Jack in the Box, which is a public accommodation 

as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B).  The Agent for service is listed as Karan Gogri, 404 

MIWOK CT. FREMONT, CA 94539 by the California Secretary of State.

4. Defendant JACK IN THE BOX, INC. is a Delaware Corporation.  Jack in the Box 

is the franchisor for Jack in the Box restaurants.  The Agent for service is listed as 1505 

Corporation, 2710 Gateway Oaks Drive, Sacramento, CA 95833.

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 11
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Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 6

5. Defendant RT GOLDEN HILLS, LP is a California Limited Partnership.  RT 

Golden Hills is the owner of The Shops at Golden Hills shopping center.  The Agent for 

service is listed as Tim Lefever, 6359 Auburn Heights Blvd Suite B, Citrus Heights, CA 

95621.

6. Defendant LIVEVIEW TECHNOLOGIES, INC. is a Delaware Corporation.  LVT 

operates a video surveillance system designed to intentionally discriminate.  The Agent for 

service is listed as 1505 Corporation, 330 N. Brand Blvd., Glendale, CA 91203.

7. Plaintiff does not know the true names and capacities, whether individual, 

corporate, associate, or otherwise, of Respondents DOE 1 through DOE 20, inclusive, and 

therefore sue said Defendants under fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to 

show their true names and capacities when they are known.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has jurisdiction of this action under California Civil Code § 51, 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 42 U.S.C. § 12133. The Court may grant declaratory and other relief 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and 42 U.S.C. § 12133.

9. The venue is proper because the Jack in the Box restaurant is located in this county, 

and all the claims and events giving rise to this action occurred in this county.

10. The plaintiff exhausted all administrative remedies prior to filing this claim.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A.   Light Emitting Diodes

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 12
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Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 7

11. A Light Emitting Diode is a device that emits Visible Light radiation.  The 

. ity, small size, and 

digital nature of LEDs, along with other unique characteristics, that make LED devices 

unsafe for certain individuals with disabilities.  

12. The US Food and Drug Administration is the responsible agency for 

regulating LED products as per 21 U.S.C. Part C.  However, the FDA has failed to comply 

with the requirements of 21 U.S.C. Part C and thus there are no performance standards for 

LED products.  The FDA has not tested or evaluated LED products, and the FDA has not 

published any limits on intensity (luminance) or digital flashing characteristics to ensure 

that LED light is safe for individuals with disabilities.

13. Gogris and LVT have no legal basis for using unregulated LED lights on the LVT 

video surveillance system and no government agency has provided authorization to use the 

LED lights in the LVT video surveillance system.

B.   Individuals with Disabilities

14. The two primary characteristics of the blue LED lights on the LVT video surveillance 

system that create a discriminatory barrier for individuals with disabilities are the intensity 

and the digital flashing.  Intensity of an LED is measured with the metric 

candela per square meter or nit.  The human eye has a bi-convex lens that focuses the light 

and recreates the intensity of the light on the retina, which in turn sends signals to the brain.  

Digital flashing greatly increases the hazard risk associated with light.

One reason why the Plaintiff has strong adverse reactions to LED light is that 

individuals with autism may have a slower pupil reflex, so too much of the intense light 

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 13
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Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 8

reaches the retina.  In addition, the pupil reflex for monochromatic light is known to be 

slower than for full spectrum light.

The Plaintiff has submitted multiple reports of harm from exposure to LED light to 

the FDA via the Soft Lights Foundation. (EXHIBIT A).

C.   The Shops at Golden Hills

15. The Shops at Golden Hills is a shopping center in Vacaville, California with tenant 

businesses and a parking lot.  An LVT video surveillance system that uses intense blue 

LED lights, some strobing, some static, was installed near a Jack in the Box restaurant.

When subjected to the blue LED lights on the LVT system, the Plaintiff suffers 

extremely adverse neurological and psychological reactions.  The trauma is long lasting.

D.   Intentional Discrimination

16. LVT has designed their video surveillance system as a deterrence system.  Therefore, 

by definition, the LVT system is a discriminatory system, segregating individuals with 

certain characteristics from the general population.  Below are some quotes from LVT

website.

17. -time monitoring deter criminals and 

unwanted activity, delivering a proven 56% decrease in incidents while increasing revenue 

for many fast-casual restaurant franchise locations nationwide. They also add a layer of 

safety for employees and customers, helping to increase retention and sales with greater 

security measures. 1 [emphasis added].

1 https://www.lvt.com/industries/restaurant-security
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18. was going to say this is all around creating that impression of control, making the 

green shoppers feel safer and deterring activity from the red shopper. 2 [emphasis added].

19. Light up your property with outdoor security lights from LiveView Technologies. 

Equipped with remote control, strobe features

outdoor security lights are highly innovative and perfect for securing any area. 3 [emphasis 

added].

20. LVT is the leader in enterprise safety and security systems for outdoor 

environments. Our flagship product is a rapidly deployable, mobile security unit that runs 

on solar, connects to cellular networks, and uses a combination of cameras, sensors, and AI 

to eliminate blind spots and deter unwelcome behavior in just about any outdoor 

environment. 4 [emphasis added].

21. What is a security strobe light? It is a flashing light on or near the cameras. 

Sometimes it turns on when an alarm is activated and then pulses on and off very quickly. 

Other times it may be set to run continuously. The light can be a range of colors from 

white, yellow, red, or blue. It attracts visual attention just as a siren attracts auditory 

attention. 5 [emphasis added].

22. Security strobe lights improve safety and security in several ways, which include:

- The flashing light tells neighbors or other business owners that the property is 

under surveillance.

2 https://www.lvt.com/webinars/fear-safety-evaluating-parking-lot-interventions-for-aggressive-street-behaviors
3 https://www.lvt.com/resources/lvt-brochure
4 https://www.lvt.com/resources/lvt-brochure
5 https://www.lvt.com/blog/guide-to-security-cameras-with-strobe-lights
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- It can be armed to go off only when the alarm is sounded and can indicate that a 

breach has just occurred.

-

deterrence.

- It helps police find the location faster at night, along with fire department 

personnel, if necessary.

- It is an additional way to deter intruders and warn bystanders.6 [emphasis added].

23. The LVT system has two sets of blue LED lights.  The first set of blue LED lights is 

on the base of the system, and the second set of blue LED lights is on the top of the tower. 

Sometimes the blue LED lights on the base are static, but often the lights on the base and 

tower are strobing.  The blue lights exist as a method of deterrence, supposedly 

discriminating against good shoppers and bad shoppers.

24. Creating a barrier to 

path of travel is inherent in the entire design of the LVT video surveillance system.  The 

goal of LVT is to deter criminals from using the area.  The blue LED lights create a barrier 

to entry and use.  However, LVT does not differentiate between criminals and individuals 

with disabilities, and thus, while it is not illegal to create a barrier for path of travel for 

criminals, it is illegal to create a barrier for path of travel for individuals with disabilities.

25. on their website is the neurological and psychological 

reaction to the blue lights.  LVT clearly believes that blue LED lights have an impact on 

6 https://www.lvt.com/blog/guide-to-security-cameras-with-strobe-lights
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Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 11

people and believes that there is a difference in psychological reaction between static and 

strobing lights.  LVT believes that there is a difference between blue LED lights and red or 

green LED lights.  LVT has laboratories where they have studied all of these things and 

LVT has concluded that using blue LED lights alters human behavior.

26.

individuals who are criminals.  LVT has provided no explanation as to how individuals 

with disabilities such as epilepsy, autism, PTSD, migraines, photophobia, and others are 

not discriminated against by those same blue LED lights.

27. What we know is that, in fact, LVT makes no differentiation between criminals and 

and individuals with disabilities, intentionally and indiscriminately.

E.   Alteration

28. As Plaintiff understands it, Gogris entered into an agreement with LVT to have an 

LVT video surveillance system in the parking lot of The Shops at Golden hills owned and 

operated by RT.  Plaintiff does not know whether Gogris received permission from RT to 

install and operate the LVT system.  

29. LVT has been aware since at least March 18, 2023, that the blue LED lights on the 

LVT system create a discriminatory barrier. (EXHIBIT B).  However, LVT continues to 

operate the blue LED lights and has made no change to their policies, practices, or 

procedures to ensure protection of individuals with disabilities.  Plaintiff does not know 

whether LVT notified Gogris that the use of the blue LED lights would discriminate 

against individuals with disabilities.

Case: 24-10545    Doc# 2065-4    Filed: 08/20/25    Entered: 08/20/25 17:24:53    Page 17
of 46



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Mark Baker v. Gogris, et al. - 12

30. Neither Gogris, RT, nor LVT took any steps to ensure that the alteration of installing 

the LVT video surveillance system was made in such a way as to ensure that the Jack in the 

Box restaurant and the shopping center parking lot would be readily accessible and usable 

for individuals with disabilities, as required by 28 CFR § 36.402(a)(1).

31. The only action that was needed to ensure accessibility for individuals with 

disabilities was to ensure that the blue LED lights were not turned on, and yet neither 

Gogris, RT, nor LVT took this simple action to ensure accessibility, and thus Gogris and 

RT, because they operate a place of public accommodation, are in violation of the ADA.

F.   Administrative Actions

32. The Plaintiff first notified LVT of the discriminatory barrier created by the blue LED 

lights on March 18, 2023, and then dozens of times since.  LVT has responded with letters 

from their legal team stating that LVT is not required to take any action because LVT is not 

a public accommodation.  LVT has not established any limits on intensity or flashing 

characteristics for the blue lights to ensure that the blue LED lights do not cause harm, and 

LVT has not modified their policies, practices, or procedures to address the issue of LED 

light discrimination. On June 27, 2025, LVT wrote to Plaintiff and denied any

responsibility related to this case and declined to take any action to turn of the blue LED 

lights. (EXHIBIT C).

33. On May 8, 2025, the Plaintiff wrote to Jack in the Box and requested ADA 

accommodation.  Jack in the Box responded on June 4, 2025 that Jack in the Box is the 

franchisor and has no obligations in this matter.  (EXHIBIT D).  Plaintiff requested the 

email address of the franchisee, but Jack in the Box declined to provide the email address.
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34. The Plaintiff contacted the property management company for the Shops at Golden 

Hills in June, 2025.  The property owner, RT Golden Hills, responded on June 6, 2025 that 

they are in Chapter 11 bankruptcy, and therefore cannot be sued for an ADA claim.  

(EXHIBIT E). Plaintiff disagrees that the bankruptcy proceeding authorizes discrimination.

35. On June 17, 2025, Plaintiff spoke with Gogris Jack in the Box franchisee owner

owner Karan Gogris on the phone.  Mr. Gogris assured the Plaintiff that he would have the 

blue LED lights turned off.  On June 30, 2025, Plaintiff again encountered the blue LED 

lights still operating, despite Mr. Gogris assurances that the blue lights would be turned 

from a staff member at Jack in the Box.  Plaintiff then called the office manager for Gogris 

and was told that she would make sure that the blue lights were turned off and that she 

would call Plaintiff within two days.    The office manager did not call back.  On July 9, 

2025, Plaintiff called the office manager who told Plaintiff that she was no longer 

authorized to speak to the Plaintiff.

36. On June 23, 2025, Plaintiff notified all defendants about a nearly identical 

discrimination case involving Plaintiff, the Woodland Gateway shopping center, and the 

LVT video surveillance system.  In that case, Baker v. Petrovich Development Company, 

trial.  All defendants in that case eventually settled for damages prior to the depositions.  

Despite being made aware of this nearly identical case, every defendant has chosen to 

litigate this case, rather than simply acting to have the blue LED lights turned off.

37. Therefore, Petitioner has exhausted all administrative remedies, the discriminatory 

blue LED lights are still operating, and Plaintiff thus files this claim.
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V. LEGAL STANDARD

A.   Americans with Disabilities Act

38. The Americans with Disabilities Act was established in 1990 by Congress because, 

historically, society has tended to isolate and segregate individuals with disabilities, and, 

despite some improvements, such forms of discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities continue to be a serious and pervasive social problem 42 U.S. Code § 

12101(a)(2)).  The purpose of the ADA to provide clear, strong, consistent, enforceable 

standards addressing discrimination against individuals with disabilities; 42 U.S. Code § 

12101(b)(2)).

39. The primary purpose of the ADA Amendments Act is to make it easier for people 

with disabilities to obtain protection under the ADA. Consistent with the ADA 

Amendments Act's purpose of reinstating a broad scope of protection under the ADA, the 

definition of disability in this part shall be construed broadly in favor of expansive 

coverage to the maximum extent permitted by the terms of the ADA. The primary object of 

attention in cases brought under the ADA should be whether entities covered under the 

ADA have complied with their obligations and whether discrimination has occurred, not 

whether the individual meets the definition of disability. The question of whether an 

individual meets the definition of disability under this part should not demand extensive 

analysis . (28 CFR § 36.101(a)).

40. As stated by the Court in Hason v. Medical Bd. Of California (2001)

construe the language of the ADA broadly in order to effectively implement the ADA's 

fundamental purpose of "provid[ing] a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the 

elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities."  
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represents Congress' considered efforts to remedy and prevent what it perceived as serious, 

Coolbaugh v. State of Louisiana (1998).  

41. Thus, in this case, the primary question is whether Gogris and RT have complied with 

their obligations under the ADA.  They have not.

42 U.S. Code § 12182 No individual shall be discriminated against on the 

basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, 

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any 

person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.

42. Title III of the ADA applies to the services of a place of public accommodation.  The 

accommodation, but rather indicates that, if a business meets the criteria for public 

accommodation, then the business must not discriminate.  "The statute applies to the 

services of a place of public accommodation, not services in a place of public 

accommodation. To limit the ADA to discrimination in the provision of services occurring 

on the premises of a public accommodation would contradict the plain language of the 

statute."   Robles v. Dominos Pizza, LLC [emphasis included].  

43. Here, both Gogris and RT meet the criteria for places of public accommodation, with 

Gogris owning and operating a Jack in the Box franchise restaurant, 42 USC §

12181(7)(B), and RT owning and operating a shopping center with Gogris as a tenant, 42 

USC § 12181(7)(E).  

44. 28 CFR § 36.201(b) Both the landlord who owns the building that houses a 

place of public accommodation and the tenant who owns or operates the place of public 

accommodation are public accommodations subject to the requirements of this part. As 
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between the parties, allocation of responsibility for complying with the obligations of this 

part may be determined by lease or other contract.

seek permission from the landlord to install the LVT system into the parking lot.  The 

Plaintiff does not know the details here, but the ADA makes clear that both the landlord 

and the tenant bear responsibility for ensuring compliance with the ADA.

45. To prevail on a discrimination claim under Title III, a plaintiff must show that: 1) 

That Plaintiff has a qualified disability; 2) That Defendant is an entity that is a public 

accommodation; and 3) That Plaintiff was denied full and equal access to the services or 

facilities of the public accommodation because of their disability.  (Arizona ex re. Goddard 

v. Harkins Amusement Enters, Inc., 603 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 2012); see also Molski v. 

M.J. Cable, Inc. (9th Cir. 2007) 481 F.3d 724, 730.).  

46. In this case, Plaintiff has the qualified ADA disabilities of autism and photophobia, 

Gogris and RT are public accommodations, and Plaintiff was denied full and equal access 

47.

an ADA case.  For example, even though Plaintiff has qualified ADA disabilities, the 

Plaintiff cannot claim denial of services due to lack of curb ramps for wheelchair access 

because Plaintiff is ambulatory.  There must be a concrete connection between the access 

barrier created by the intense and often strobing blue LED lights and the denial of full and 

equal access.

48. In this case, the Plaintiff has been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder and 

photophobia, both of which are neurological conditions.  As is typical for individuals with 

autism and photophobia, sensitivity to light can be higher than for neurotypical individuals 
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and light that is excessively intense or flashing or strobing can cause severe adverse 

reactions for individuals with disabilities but no adverse reactions for individuals without 

those specific disabilities. 

49. Plaintiff has demonstrated extreme reactions to LED lights, including anxiety and 

panic, and has been hospitalized as a direct result of exposure to intense LED lights.  

cess 

barrier created by the intense blue LED lights on the LVT system.

50. Therefore, all three prongs of the discrimination claim have been met: 1) qualified 

disability, 2) public accommodation, 3) denial of full and equal access due to disability.

51. It should be noted here that Plaintiff is only alleging ADA discrimination by Gogris 

and RT.  This is not to say that Jack in the Box and LVT have not also violated the ADA, 

but it is more challenging to prove that Jack in the Box and LVT have responsibilities 

under Title III of the ADA.  Therefore, Plaintiff accuses only Gogris and RT of ADA 

violations, and Plaintiff accuses Jack in the Box and LVT only of California Unruh Civil 

Rights Act violations, as described below.

B.   California Unruh Civil Rights Act

52. The California Unruh Civil Rights Act was passed by the California Legislature to 

provide additional protection All persons within the 

jurisdiction of this state are free and equal, and no matter what their sex, race, color, 

religion, ancestry, national origin, disability, medical condition, genetic information, 

marital status, sexual orientation, citizenship, primary language, or immigration status are 

entitled to the full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, or services 
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in all business establishments of every kind whatsoever.

51(b)).

53. California Civil Code § 51(f) A violation of the right of any individual under 

the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-336) shall also 

constitute a violation of this section.

violation of Unruh.

54. California Civil Code § 52(a) Whoever denies, aids or incites a denial, or 

makes any discrimination or distinction contrary to Section 51, 51.5, or 51.6, is liable for 

each and every offense for the actual damages, and any amount that may be determined by 

a jury, or a court sitting without a jury, up to a maximum of three times the amount of 

actual damage but in no case less than four thousand dollars ($4,000), and any attorney's 

fees that may be determined by the court in addition thereto, suffered by any person denied 

the rights provided in Section 51, 51.5, or 51.6.

55. Gogris and RT have violated Unruh because of their violations of the ADA and thus 

are liable for statutory damages.  In addition, Jack in the Box and LVT have also violated 

Unruh because they have aided in the discrimination.  Both Jack in the Box and LVT have 

responsibilities in this case.  For example, Jack in the Box refused to provide the email 

address or phone number for Gogris and Jack in the Box failed to modify their policies, 

practices, or procedures to ensure that their franchisees did not cause LED light 

discrimination.  LVT has failed to notify their clients that the blue LED lights are 

discriminatory and has failed to modify their policies, practices, or procedures to set the 

blue LED lights off by default.  Despite repeated requests from the Plaintiff for intervention 

from Jack in the Box and LVT, both defendants chose to aid in the discrimination, rather 
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than acting to eliminate the discrimination, and are thus liable for statutory damages under 

Unruh section 52.

56. California Civil Code § 52 provides for a statutory minimum of $4,000 per incident 

hoever denies, aids or incites a denial, or makes any discrimination

that all parties in this case, Gogris, RT, Jack in the Box, and LVT, are liable for each and 

every offense because these entities have aided in discrimination or incited the denial of 

full and equal accommodation and privileges for Plaintiff.  The minimum statutory damage 

award of $4,000 is awarded for each incident. (Munson v. Del Taco, Inc. (2009)).  Plaintiff 

has reported at least 5 separate incidents to the defendants.

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of Title III of the ADA

(Against Defendant Gogris)

57. Plaintiff re-pleads and incorporates by reference, as if fully set forth again herein, the 

allegations contained in all prior paragraphs of this complaint. 

58. Defendant Gogris is a public accommodation under 42 USC § 12181(7)(B) -

Restaurant.  The Jack in the Box restaurant is a place of public accommodation under 42 

U.S.C. § 12182(a).  Gogris owns, leases, and operates a place of public accommodation

under 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a).  Under 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a), it is an act of discrimination to 

fail to ensure that the privileges, advantages, accommodations, facilities, goods and 

services of the Jack in the Box restaurant are offered on a full and equal basis to Plaintiff 

by Defendant Gogris.
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59. Defendant Gogris failed to make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or 

procedures under 42 U.S. Code § 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii) even though such modifications are 

necessary to afford such goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations to Plaintiff.   Specifically, Defendant Gogris failed to turn off the 

discriminatory blue LED lights on the LVT video surveillance system.

60. Under 42 U.S. Code § 12182(b)(1)(A)(ii), defendant Gogris discriminated against 

Plaintiff by not providing Plaintiff the opportunity to participate in or benefit from a good, 

service, facility, privilege, advantage, or accommodation that is equal to that afforded to 

other individuals.  Specifically, the use of the discriminatory blue LED lights on the LVT 

video surveillance system creates an unequal benefit by causing Plaintiff to suffer pain, 

anxiety, and panic

61. Defendant Gogris made an alteration to the Jack in the Box and The Shops at Golden 

Hills parking lot by installing the LVT video surveillance system without ensuring that the 

alteration was made in such a way as to be readily accessible and usable to Plaintiff, as 

required by 28 CFR § 36.402(a)(1).

VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violations of Title III of the ADA

(Against Defendant RT)

62. Plaintiff re-pleads and incorporates by reference, as if fully set forth again herein, the 

allegations contained in all prior paragraphs of this complaint. 

63. Defendant RT is a public accommodation under 42 USC § 12181(7)(E) Shopping 

Center.  The Shops at Golden Hills parking lot is a place of public accommodation under 
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42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). RT owns, leases to, and operates a place of public accommodation 

under 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). Under 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a), it is an act of discrimination to 

fail to ensure that the privileges, advantages, accommodations, facilities, goods and 

services of the Jack in the Box and The Shops at Golden Hills are offered on a full and 

equal basis to Plaintiff by Defendant RT.

64. Defendant RT failed to make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or 

procedures under 42 U.S. Code § 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii) even though such modifications are 

necessary to afford such goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations to Plaintiff.   Specifically, Defendant RT failed to direct its tenant Gogris 

or contact LVT to turn off the discriminatory blue LED lights on the LVT video 

surveillance system.

VIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of the Unruh Civil Rights Act

(Against All Defendants)

65. Plaintiff re-pleads and incorporates by reference, as if fully set forth again herein, the 

allegations contained in all prior paragraphs of this complaint. 

66. Under California Civil Code § 51(f), a violation of the ADA is a violation of Unruh.

67. Defendant Gogris has denied, aided, or incited the denial contrary to section 51 of 

Unruh by failing to turn off the discriminatory blue LED lights on the LVT video 

surveillance system.  Under California Civil Code § 52(a), Gogris is thus liable for 

statutory damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 52(a).
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68. Defendant Jack in the Box has denied, aided, or incited the denial contrary to section 

51 of Unruh by failing to direct franchisee Gogris or LVT to turn off the discriminatory 

blue LED lights on the LVT video surveillance system, by failing to provide the phone 

number or email address of franchisee Gogris, and by failing to modify their policies, 

practices, and procedures to address LED light discrimination.  Under California Civil 

Code § 52(a), Jack in the Box is thus liable for statutory damages pursuant to California 

Civil Code § 52(a).

69. Defendant RT has denied, aided, or incited the denial contrary to section 51 of Unruh 

by failing to direct tenant Gogris or LVT turn off the discriminatory blue LED lights on the 

LVT video surveillance system.  Under California Civil Code § 52(a), RT is thus liable for 

statutory damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 52(a).

70. Defendant LVT has denied, aided, or incited the denial contrary to section 51 of 

Unruh by leasing or operating the discriminatory LVT video surveillance system, by failing 

to turn off the discriminatory blue LED lights, and by failing to modify their policies, 

practices, and procedures to address LED light discrimination, and thus is liable for 

statutory damages pursuant to California Civil Code § 52(a).

IX. RELIEF REQUESTED

71. Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment:

A. Declaring that defendants Gogris and RT have violated Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S. 

Code §§ 12181-12189, and its implementing regulations, 28 C.F.R. Part 36;
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B. Declaring that each defendant has violated the Unruh Civil Rights Act, California 

Civil Code §§ 51-52;

C. For a permanent injunction, ordering LVT to turn off all blue LED lights on the LVT 

video surveillance system.

D. For actual and statutory damages for each offense pursuant to California Civil Code 

Section 52;

E. Granting reasonable attorney fees, court costs and legal fees pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 

36.505, California Civil Code Section 52, and Code of Civil Procedure 1021.5.  (Also 

see Christiansburg Garment Company vs. Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission).

Dated: July 10, 2025

Respectfully Submitted,

By: /s/ Mark Baker
In Pro Per
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9450 SW Gemini Drive
PMB 44671

Beaverton, OR 97008

March 18, 2023

BY EMAIL

Ryan Porter, CEO
LiveView Technologies
support@lvt.com

Re: LED Strobe Light Americans with Disabilities Act Accommodation Request

Dear Ryan Porter,

On March 17, 2023, I encountered a LiveView Technologies mobile security system in a parking 
lot in Sacramento, California similar to the one shown in the figure below.

I have been diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder, a qualified disability under the 
Americans with Disabilities Act.  The LiveView mobile system uses blue LED strobe lights that violate my 
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civil rights and prevent me from safely accessing the parking lot.  Your business, which includes the 
sales, rental, manufacture, and operation of a device that uses LED strobe lights, is discriminating 
against me and others who cannot neurologically process LED strobe lights and because these LED 
strobe lights interfere with our ability to see, think, and concentrate. 

The US Food and Drug Administration is the federal agency that regulates electromagnetic 
radiation from electronic products, and LED products specifically.  Jeffrey Shuren 
(jeff.shuren@fda.hhs.gov) has been the Director of the Center for Devices and Radiological Health at the 
FDA since 2010 and he has not directed the FDA to publish any comfort, health, or safety regulations for 
LED products.  The Administrative Procedure Act of 1946 requires that companies submit a petition to 
the FDA for approval to use LEDs in their products.  The Soft Lights Foundation submitted a petition to 
the FDA on June 12, 2022, docket number FDA-2022-P-1151, to regulate LED products.  The FDA has not 
acted on this petition.  Therefore, LiveView Technologies has no legal basis for using LED strobe lights in 
their products. 

LED strobe lights cause seizures, migraines, panic attacks, decreased vision, impaired cognitive 
functioning, nausea, and vomiting.  LED strobe lights violate the basic human and civil right to visual 
freedom by pulsing high intensity visible radiation into the eyes and nerves of individuals without their 
permission.  For information on the impacts of LED strobe lights on individuals with photosensitive 
epilepsy, refer to the February 7, 2022, article in Epilepsia titled Visually sensitive seizures: An updated 
review by the Epilepsy Foundation1 

The Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits discrimination and requires that businesses provide 
equal access.  Title III of the ADA is codified as Title 28 Part 36 in the Code of Federal Regulations.  A 
parking lot is a place of public accommodation, serving the needs of the public as part of their use of 
public accommodations such as restaurants and gyms.  The installation and operation of LED strobe 
lights creates a discriminatory barrier for those who cannot neurologically tolerate LED strobe lights, 
such as individuals with PTSD, autism, photosensitive epilepsy, migraineurs, and traumatic brain injury.  
LiveView Technologies does not directly 
is mobile and creates the transient discriminatory barrier in the place of public accommodation, 
LiveView is the responsible party. 

The case Christianburg Garment Company vs. the EEOC established that the defendant in an 
ADA discrimination lawsuit cannot recover attorney fees, even if successfully defending an ADA lawsuit.  
The California Unruh Civil Rights Act provides additional protection from discrimination and damage 
awards for cases of discrimination. 

Therefore, given that LiveView has no authorization from the FDA and no legal justification to 
use LED strobe lights, and given that LED strobe lights cause serious adverse neurological impacts, and 
since LED strobe lights create discriminatory barriers that prevent equal access, then on behalf of myself 
and all others similarly situated, I request that LiveView disable the LED strobe lights on their products.  
This is not an undue burden and is a reasonable accommodation because the strobe lights are controlled 
via remote software and can easily be switched off. 

 

 
1 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/epi.17175 
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Sincerely,

/s/ Mark Baker 
President 

Soft Lights Foundation 
mbaker@softlights.org 
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Gabrielle L. Albert
Direct: 415.364.6778 101 Montgomery Street, Suite 1950
Email: galbert@kbkllp.com San Francisco, CA 94104

June 16, 2025

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND ELECTRONIC MAIL

Mark Baker
(mbaker@softlights.org)
Soft Lights Foundation
9450 SW Gemini Drive, PMB 44671 
Beaverton, OR 97008

Re: In re: LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, et. al., Case No. 24-10545
(Jointly Administered) (Bankr. N. D. Cal.) Notice of Chapter 11 
Bankruptcy and Demand to Cease Any Actions Against the Debtors

Dear Mr. Baker:

We are counsel to LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, and its affiliates that are debtors 
and debtors in possession, including RT Golden Hills, LP, Debtors in the above-
referenced chapter Chapter 11 Cases Charles Novack, 
United States Bankruptcy Judge, in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of 

Bankruptcy Court

I am writing to inform you that on September 12, 2024, LeFever Mattson and its affiliates, 
including RT Golden Hills, LP, commenced voluntary cases under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United 

Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court. A copy of the Notice of Chapter 11 
Bankruptcy Case is enclosed with this letter.  A complete list of Debtors is attached as Exhibit 1 to 
the Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case.

Please be advised that, Automatic 
Stay

of a judicial, administrative, or other action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could have 
been commenced before the commencement of the case under [the Bankruptcy Code], or to recover 
a claim against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the [bankruptcy] case. 11 U.S.C. 
§ 362(a)(1).  

The protection of the Bankruptcy Code prohibits commencing any actions against the 
Debtors, including actions alleging noncompliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

ADA , which can be construed as a willful violation of the Automatic Stay.  Moreover, filing a 
discrimination lawsuit does not fall into one of the narrow exception to the Automatic Stay.  Courts 
have consistently held that the automatic stay applies to [qui tam actions], at least when the government 
has not intervened, because they do not fall within the governmental unit exception. Porter v. Nabors 
Drilling USA, Ltd. P ship, 854 F.3d 1057, 1062 (9th Cir. 2017). As such, any action taken against the 
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Gabrielle L. Albert, Esq.
June 16, 2025
Page 2

Debtors without first obtaining relief from the Automatic Stay from the Bankruptcy Court is void ab 
initio and may result in a finding of contempt for violation of the Automatic Stay.

The Debtors reserve all rights to seek appropriate relief in the Bankruptcy Court, including 
but not limited to seeking an injunction or monetary sanctions for violations.

Should you have any questions regarding the Chapter 11 Cases, please contact the undersigned 
counsel for the Debtors.  

Yours truly,

Gabrielle L. Albert

Encl.: 

Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case
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NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGE AND CMC ONE 
0900-CV REV. 07-2025 Page 1 of 4 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF SOLANO 

CIVIL DIVISION 

 OLD SOLANO COURTHOUSE 
580 Texas Street 

Fairfield, CA 94533 
(707) 207-7330

HALL OF JUSTICE 
600 Union Avenue 
Fairfield, CA 94533 

(707) 207-7330

Plaintiff(s): Case No. 

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGE 
FOR ALL PURPOSES 

NOTICE OF CASE MANAGEMENT 
CONFERENCE ONE 

Defendant(s): 

This notice contains important information regarding the case management process. The court expects 
all attorneys and parties without attorneys to read this notice and to comply with the instructions.  

If you are the PLAINTIFF, you must do the following: 

1. Serve your summons, complaint, and a copy of this Notice of Case Management Conference One and Notice of
Assignment of Judge for All Purposes (“Notice of CMC One”) on all defendants within sixty (60) days of the date
you filed your complaint with the court.

2. File a proof of service of summons showing service has been completed for each defendant.

3. Comply with the meet and confer obligations in California Rules of Court, rule 3.724 at least thirty (30) days prior to
the Case Management Conference One.

4. File a Case Management Statement (Judicial Council form CM-110) with the court and have it served on all
attorneys (or parties representing themselves) at least fifteen (15) days before the Case Management Conference
One.

5. Review and comply with local and statewide rules regarding civil litigation. They are available at:

http://www.courts.ca.gov/rules.htm  
http://www.solano.courts.ca.gov/LocalRulesofCourt.html 

This matter has been assigned to the following judge for all purposes: 

Name: 

Location:  

This matter has been set for a Case Management Conference One as follows: 

Date:        Time: 

Plaintiff and any Defendants served with the summons and complaint MUST APPEAR at this hearing unless 
otherwise instructed by the court. Parties with attorneys may appear through counsel. 
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NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGE AND CMC ONE 
0900-CV REV. 07-2025 Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

If you are the DEFENDANT, you must do the following: 

1. File and serve any responsive pleadings within thirty (30) days after the complaint is served on you, if you have not 
already done so. This deadline cannot be extended unless authorized by law. 

Appearing at the Case Management Conference One does not excuse a defendant from this 
requirement.  

2. File a proof of service showing all plaintiffs have been served with a copy of your responsive pleadings. 

3. Comply with the meet and confer obligations in California Rules of Court, rule 3.724 at least thirty (30) days prior to 
the Case Management Conference One.  

4. File a Case Management Statement (Judicial Council form CM-110) with the court and have it served on all 
attorneys (or parties representing themselves) at least fifteen (15) days before the Case Management Conference 
One.  

5. Review and comply with local and statewide rules regarding civil litigation. They are available at: 

http://www.courts.ca.gov/rules.htm  
http://www.solano.courts.ca.gov/LocalRulesofCourt.html 

If you are the DEFENDANT and you have filed or will file a CROSS-COMPLAINT, you must do the 
following: 

1. Serve a copy of this Notice of CMC One on each cross-defendant with the cross-complaint. 

2. Ensure that any cross-complaint served after Case Management Conference One has been held has a Notice of 
Case Management Conference Two served with it. 

If you are demanding a JURY TRIAL, you must do the following:  

1. Ensure that jury fees are paid as required by law. If you believe you cannot afford the jury fee, you can 
ask the court to waive them. Ask the Civil Clerk’s office for more information.  

At least one party demanding a jury on each side of a civil case must pay a nonrefundable fee of 
$150.00 on or before the initial case management conference or as otherwise provided by statute. 

WHAT TO EXPECT AT CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE ONE AND AFTER: 

1. At any Case Management Conference, counsel shall be completely aware of all procedural, factual, and legal 
aspects of the case. They shall also have full authority to discuss and resolve any issues that arise at the 
conference, including settlement of the case. This applies equally to both attorneys of record and specially-
appearing counsel. 

2. The court will set the date, time, and place for any future case management conferences. The court will also 
make orders about what the court expects counsel and self-represented parties will accomplish prior to those 
case management conferences.  

3. Each attorney of record and self-represented party shall complete, file, and serve a Case Management 
Statement (Judicial Council form CM-110) at least fifteen (15) days before each future case management 
conference hearing, unless the court excuses that requirement.  

 

The court may impose sanctions pursuant to Solano County Local Rules, rule 4.6, if a Case Management 
Statement is not timely filed and/or served or is not fully completed, or if the requirements of Rule 4.6 are 
not met, or if an attorney or self-represented party fails to appear at the conference without good cause. 
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NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGE AND CMC ONE 
0900-CV REV. 07-2025 Page 3 of 4 

 

 

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE 

 
I, the undersigned, declare under penalty of perjury that I am employed as a deputy clerk of the above-entitled 
court, that I am not a party to the above-entitled action, and that I served this Notice Of Assignment Of Judge For 
All Purposes & Notice Of Case Management Conference One as follows: 
 
 

 ELECTRONIC SERVICE: I served the notice electronically on (date) ______________________________ 
at (time) ______________________ on the person(s) named below: 

  
Name:     

Email address:  

 
Name:  

Email address:  

 
 See next page for additional service  

 

 PERSONAL SERVICE: I served the notice personally on (date) __________________________________ 
at (time) ____________________ on the person(s) named below: 

  
Name:  

Name: 

 See next page for additional service  
 

 MAILED SERVICE:  I caused to be placed a true copy of this notice in an envelope which was then sealed 
and postage fully prepaid on the date shown below; that I am readily familiar with the business practice for 
collection and processing of correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service; that the 
above stated document will be deposited in the Superior Court of California, County of Solano’s outgoing 
mailbox for collection by county mail carriers on the date indicated. Said envelope was addressed to the 
attorneys for the parties, or the parties, as shown below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 See next page for additional service 

Date: Clerk of the Court 
Superior Court of California, County of Solano 

 
By:   

Deputy Clerk 

07/11/2025
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AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE 

 

Additional Service Addresses: 
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CM-180 
ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (Name, Slate Bar number, a,d address): 

FOR COURT USE ONLY Tyler Davis (CA Bar No. 338117) 
Keller Benvenutti Kim LLP 
101 Montgomery Street, Ste 1950 
San Francisco, CA 941 04 

TELEPHONE NO.: (415) 496-6723 FAX NO. (Optional): 

E-MAIL A DDRESS (Optional): tdavis@kbkllp.com 
ATTORNEY FOR (Name): RT Golden Hills, LP 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SOLANO 
STREET ADDRESS: 580 Texas Street 
MAILING ADDRESS: 

CITY AND ZIP CODE: Fairfield, 94533 
BRA NCH NAME: Old Solano Courthouse 

PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: Mark Baker 

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT: RT Golden Hills, LP 

CASE NUMBER: 

NOTICE OF STAY OF PROCEEDINGS 
CU25-06372 

JUDGE: Hon. Wendy Getty 
DEPT.: 8 

To the court and to all parties: 
1. Declarant (name): Tyler Davis 

a. [KJ is D the party [KJ the attorney for the party who requested or caused the stay. 

b. D is D the plaintiff or petitioner ~ the attorney for the plaintiff or petitioner. The party who requested the stay 
has not appeared in this case or is not subject to the jurisdiction of this court. 

2. This case is stayed as follows: 

a. D With regard to all parties. 

b. [KJ With regard to the following parties (specify by name and party designation): RT Golden Hills, LP 

3. Reason for the stay: 

a. [KJ Automatic stay caused by a filing in another court. (Attach a copy of the Notice of Commencement of Case, the 
bankruptcy petition, or other document showing that the stay is in effect, and showing the court, case number, 
debtor, and petitioners.) 

b. D Order of a federal court or of a higher California court. (Attach a copy of the court order.) 

c. D Contractual arbitration under Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.4. (Attach a copy of the order directing 
arbitration.) 

d. D Arbitration of attorney fees and costs under Business and Professions Code section 6201. (Attach a copy of the 
client's request for arbitration showing filing and service.) 

e. D Other: 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Date: July 17, 2025 

Tyler Davis ► 
(TYPE OR PRINT NAME OF DECLARANT) 

Page 1 of 1 

Form Adopted for Mandatory Use 
Judicial Council of California 
CM-180 [Rev. January 1, 2007) 

NOTICE OF STAY OF PROCEEDINGS Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.650 
www.courts.ca.gov 
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Debtors may request to receive court notices and orders by email instead of u.s, mail, Sigo up at www.canb.nscom·ts,goy 

Information to identi the case: 

Debtors See Exhibit 1 for the other 
LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, and affiliates EIN 68-0197537 affiliated Debtors' EINs. 

Name 

United States Bankruptcy Court California Northern Bankruptcy Court 

Case number 24-10545 et al. Jointl Administered 

Date case filed for chapter 

Official Form 309F1 (For Corporations or Partnerships) 
Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case 

11 9/12/24 

10/20 

For the debtors listed above, a case has been filed under ch:apter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. An order for relief has 
been entered. 

This notice has important information about the case for creditors and debtors, including information about the 
meeting of creditors and deadlines. Read both pages carefuilly. 
The filing of the case imposed an automatic stay against most collection activities. This means that creditors generally may not take action to collect debts 
from the debtor or the debtor's property. For example, while the stay is in effect, credrtors cannot sue, assert a deficiency, repossess property, or 
otherwise try to collect from the debtor. Credrtors cannot demand repayment from the debtor by mail, phone, or otherwise. Credrtors who violate the stay 
can be required to pay actual and punrtive damages and attorney's fees. 
Confirmation of a chapter 11 plan may result in a discharge of debt. A credrtorwho wants to have a particular debt excepted from discharge may be 
required to file a complaint in the bankruptcy clerk's office wrthin the deadline specified in this notice. (See line 11 below for more information.) 
To protect your rights, consult an attorney. All documents filed in the case may be inspected at the bankruptcy clerk's office at the address listed below or 
through PACER (Public Access to Court Electronic Records at https://pacer.uscourts.gov). 

The staff of the bankruptcy clerk's office cannot give legal advice. 

Do not file this notice with anv oroof of claim or other filina in the case 

1. Debtors' full names LeFever Mattson , a California corporation, and affiliated Debtors listed on Exhibit 1 attached hereto. 

2. All other names used in the 
last 8 years 

6359 Auburn Blvd. 
3. Address Suite B 

Citrus Heights, CA 95621 

4. Debtor's attorney Thomas B. Rupp 
Name and address Keller Benvenutti Kim LLP Contact phone 415- 496- 6723 

425 Market Street, 26th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105 

5. Bankru~tcy clerk's office Hours open: 
Documen s in this case may be filed Mailing Address: Monday - Friday 9:00 am to 4:30 pm 
at this address. You may inspect all U.S. Bankruptcy Court records filed in this case online at 
htttls://Ql:!cer.uscourtsgov. 1300 Clay Street, Suite 300 Contact phone (888) 821-7606 

Oakland , CA 94612 
Date: 9/25/24 

6. Meeting of creditors October 21, 2024 at 10:00 AM Location: 
The debtor's representative must 
attend the meeting to be questioned The meeting may be continued or adjourned to a later Teleconference, Call in number/URL: 
under oath. date If so the date will be on the court docket 1-888-455-8838,Passcode: 4169593 
Creditors may attend, but are not • ' • 
required to do so. 

Important Notice to Individual Debtors: The Unrted States Trustee requires all debtors who are individuals to provide 
government- issued photo identification and proof of social security number to the trustee at the meeting of credrtors. Failure to Appear May 
Result in the Dismissal of the Case without further notice. A request for a continuance or to be excused from appearing must be made in 
wrrting at least 7 days before the meeting, timely filed with the court at the address above in box 5. 

For more information, see page 2 

Official Form 309F1 (For Corporations or Partnerships) Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case page 1 
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Debtor LeFever Mattson, a California corporation, er a/. Case number 24-10545 

7. Proof of claim deadline 

For a bankruptcy case 
pending in the Northern 
District of California, a Proof 
of Claim may be filed 
electronically online at 
www.canb.uscourts.gov In 
the Quick Links section, 
click on "File an Electronic 
Proof of Claim." 

8. Exception to discharge 
deadline 
The bankruptcy clerk's office must 
receive a complaint and any 
required filing fee by the following 
deadline. 

Creditors with a foreign 9• address 

10 Filing a Chapter 11 
• bankruptcy case 

11. Discharge of debts 

Deadline for filing proof of claim: 
For all creditors (except a governmental 
unit): 

1/10/25 ••unless the Court orders 
otherwise, in which case creditors 
will receive a further notice. 

A proof of claim is a signed statement describing a credrtor's claim. A proof of claim form may be obtained 
at www. uscourts.qov or any bankruptcy clerk's office. 

Your claim will be allowed in the amount scheduled unless: 
• your daim is designated as disputed, contingent, or unliquidated; 
• you file a proof of claim in a different amount; or 
• you receive another notice. 
If your claim is not scheduled or if your claim is designated as disputed, contingent, or unliquidated, you 
must file a proof of claim or you might not be paid on your claim and you might be unable to vote on a 
plan. You may file a proof of claim even if your claim is scheduled. 

You may review the schedules at the bankruptcy clerk's office or online at https://pacer .uscourts.qov. 

Secured credrtors retain rights in their collateral regardless of whether they file a proof of claim. Filing a 
proof of claim submrts a creditor to the jurisdiction of the bankruptcy court, with consequences a lawyer 
can explain. For example, a secured creditor who files a proof of claim may surrender important 
nonmonetary rights, including the right to a jury trial. 

If§ 523(c) applies to your claim and you seek to have it 
excepted from discharge, you must start a judicial 
proceeding by filing a complaint by the deadline stated 
below. 

Deadline for filing the complaint: 12/20/24 

If you are a creditor receiving notice mailed to a foreign address, you may file a motion asking the court to 
extend the deadlines in this notice. Consult an attorney familiar wrth United States bankruptcy law if you 
have any questions about your rights in this case. 

Chapter 11 allows debtors to reorganize or liquidate according to a plan. A plan is not effective unless the 
court confirms rt. You may receive a copy of the plan and a disdosure statement telling you about the plan, 
and you may have the opportunrty to vote on the plan. You will receive notice of the date of the confirmation 
hearing, and you may object to confirmation of the plan and attend the confirmation hearing. Unless a 
trustee is serving, the debtor will remain in possession of the property and may continue to operate its 
business. 

Confirmation of a chapter 11 plan may result in a discharge of debts, which may include all or part of your 
debt. See 11 U.SC. § 1141 (d). A discharge means that credrtors may never try to collect the debt from the 
debtor except as provided in the plan. If you want to have a particular debt owed to you excepted from the 
discharge and§ 523(c) applies to your claim, you must start a judicial proceeding by filing a complaint and 
paying the filing fee in the bankruptcy clerk's office by the deadline. 
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Exhibit 1 to Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case 

Debtor Name EIN 

LeFever Mattson, a California corporation 68-0197537 
California Investment Properties, a California corporation 30-0289474 
Home Tax Service of America, Inc., dba LeFever Mattson 68-0262554 

Property Management 
Apan Partners LLC NIA 
Autumn Wood I, LP 20-0164208 

Bay Tree, LP 82-1071378 
Beach Pine, LP 83-2643272 
Bishop Pine, LP 83-2643038 
Black Walnut, LP 47-2451858 

Buck Avenue Apartments, LP 54-2090323 
Buckeye Tree, LP 88-2980108 

Bur Oak, LP 87-4699497 
Butcher Road Partners, LLC 45-5159521 

Cambria Pine, LP 83-2644771 
Chestnut Oak, LP 87-4702239 

Country Oaks I, LP 26-0860694 
Divi Divi Tree, L.P. 71-0926806 

Douglas Fir Investments, LP 47-4674444 
Firetree I, LP 82-3519393 
Firetree II, LP 82-3519554 
Firetree III, LP 82-3919655 
Foxtail Pine, LP 83-2643197 
Ginko Tree, LP 88-2960976 
Golden Tree, LP 82-1060045 
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Debtor Name EIN 

Hagar Properties, LP 04-3598044 
Heacock Park Apartments, LP 46-3737509 

LeF ever Mattson I, LLC 47-4960075 
Live Oak Investments, LP 47-3786181 

Monterey Pine, LP 83-2644824 
Napa Elm, LP 54-2090332 
Nut Pine, LP 83-2661795 
Pinecone, LP 84-2395880 

Redbud Tree, LP 88-2961999 
Red Cedar Tree, LP 88-3572519 

Red Mulberry Tree, LP 88-3572594 
Red Oak, LP 61-2022650 

Red Oak Tree, LP 92-1008382 
Red Spruce Tree, LP 92-0780568 

River Birch, LP 86-3020630 
River Tree Partners, LP 81-3671554 

River View Shopping Center 1, LLC 47-4186147 
River View Shopping Center 2, LLC 47-41 86476 

RT Capitol Mall, LP 81-3775896 
RT Golden Hills, LP 81-3708073 

Scotch Pine, LP 86-3043628 
Sequoia Investment Properties, LP 32-0136044 

Sienna Pointe, LLC 47-4712579 
Spruce Pine, LP 84-2396399 

Tradewinds Apartments, LP 54-2090326 
Vaca Villa Apartments, LP 54-2090327 

Valley Oak Investments, LP 47-3383417 
Watertree I, LP 82-3519819 
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Debtor Name EIN 

Willow Oak, LP 87-4700495 
Windscave Apartments, LLC1 83-1597353 
Windscape Apartments I, LP 26-0860477 
WindscapeApartments II, LP 26-0860509 

Windscape Holdings, LLC 83-1608759 
Windtree, LP 82-4974654 

Yellow Poplar, LP 86-3043392 

The Chapter 11 case of Windscape Apartments, LLC was filed on August 6, 2024. A separate Notice of Chapter 11 Bankruptcy 
Case was filed in that case (Case No. 24-10417) at Docket No. 10 and served on creditors ofWindscapeApartments, LLC only. 
That notice contains separate dates, deadlines, and other information that does not apply to the other Debtors listed herein. 
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